FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/17/2023 8:05 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

101726-0

No. 38761-5-III

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MARC R. KEITH, Petitioner,

V.

FERRY COUNTY, WASHINGTON and ALL PERSONS CLAIMING ANY RIGHT, TITLE OR INTEREST IN THE REAL PROPERTY DESCRIBED HEREIN,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Marc R. Keith 31013 24th Ct. S. Federal Way, WA 98003 (315) 236-0496

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Marc R. Keith (Mr. Keith) respectfully petitions the Supreme Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition. Mr. Keith, elderly and dependent on Social Security, petitions pro se because he can no longer afford legal counsel in the seventh year of litigation.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Mr. Keith requests review of *Keith v. Ferry County*, No. 38761-5-III, (Wash. Ct. App. Dec. 06, 2022) (unpublished) Mr. Keith's Motion for Reconsideration was denied on Jan. 24, 2023. A copy of the Court of Appeals opinion and the order denying motion for reconsideration are included in the appendix.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW - RAP 13.4 (b)(1) Issue 1. The Supreme Court held in *Kesinger v. Logan*, 113 Wn.2d 320, 779 P.2d 263, (1989), and *Berg v. Ting*, 125 Wn.2d 544, 886 P.2d 564 (1995), that conveyance of a right-of-way shall be by deed and recorded, citing RCW 64.04.010. Should

review be granted where the record contains no deed evidencing conveyance of a right-of-way to Ferry County, when the Court of Appeals cited its own cases in conflict with the Supreme Court to hold, "A formal conveyance by deed is not required" *Keith v. Ferry County* No. 38761-5-III (unpublished) (2022), Pages 5-6. (Appendix P. 5)

CONSTITUTIONAL QUESTION OF LAW - RAP 13.4 (3)

Issue 2. Was it constitutional under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, and Article 1, Sections 3 and 16 of the Washington State Constitution for Ferry County to hold a land-use hearing without notice to Mr. Keith, resulting in county commissioner resolution 2016-21, which retroactively took his deeded and recorded property?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 1991, the Wutzke and Schinnell families applied for a short plat to divide their 20-acre parcel into four lots. (CP-011) An offer of right-of-way for Empire Creek Road was placed on the survey as a condition of filing. (Short Plat Ordinance 72-1, 23.00, CP 277)

On June 1, 1992, the short plat was approved and filed by the Ferry County platting administrator under RCW 58.17.060. After filing, the owners exchanged reciprocal quit-claim deeds. The 1992 quit-claim deed to Lot one conveyed all interest to its grantee, Mr. Keith's predecessor in interest. (CP-389) No right-of-way deed was created or recorded pursuant to the offered grant of right-of-way on the survey.

The planning agency filed the short plat with the auditor on June 1, 1992. For the next 24 years, lot one was conveyed and taxed as real property, including the disputed right-of-way, which was assigned a separate parcel number, 33805340003101, and taxed separately from the rest of lot one, 33805340003100. (CP-004)

On July 25, 2016, the Ferry County Commissioners enacted resolution 2016-21, (CP-026) which retroactively recognized the

planning department *had* accepted the Empire Creek Road as shown on the short plat.

On May 15, 2017, Mr. Keith brought action (CP-001) for declaratory judgment to quiet title in himself to the disputed area, on the strength of his statutory warranty deed, (CP 017-018) seven years occupation, payment of taxes, (CP 020-023) and inverse condemnation (CP-006) in violation of RCW 58.17.150, which requires legislative body approval of dedications.

Ferry County prosecuting attorney Kathryn Burke filed an answer to the complaint on June 2, 2017, (CP-027) admitting Mr. Keith pays separate taxes on his house (#....3100) and road parcel. (#....3101) (CP-029)

On August 19, 2019, Mr. Keith filed a motion for summary judgement (CP-032) to quiet title in the disputed right-of-way on the strength of his statutory warranty deed, (CP 018-019) payment of taxes, (CP 020-023) and record of conveyances. (CP-077)

Ferry County filed a cross-motion for summary judgment of dismissal on November 7, 2019, (CP-084) pleading the act of filing the short plat by the planning agency with a dedication on its face, constituted acceptance of the dedication. (CP-093) Ferry County included with the cross-motion for dismissal an affidavit from the chief deputy tax assessor, Coleen Cox, (CP 131-132) denying under oath that Mr. Keith pays separate taxes on the disputed right-of-way. (CP 291-295, 323-324, 402-410) The summary judgment of dismissal was granted by Ferry County Superior Court on April 7, 2020. (CP 239-240)

In 2020, Mr. Keith appealed to the Court of Appeals, which affirmed the dismissal. *Keith v. Ferry County*, No. 37526-9-III, slip op. at 2-7 (Wash. Ct. App. Mar. 30, 2021) (unpublished) (CP 242-258).

On November 22, 2021, Mr. Keith filed a CR 60 (b)(4) motion in Ferry County Superior Court, (CP 259-308) alleging the summary judgment of dismissal was obtained by fraud, (CP 266-267) forgery, (CP 300-302, 425-432) and misrepresentation

through perjury. (CP 131-132, 291-295) It was denied January 31, 2022. (CP 498-502) Mr. Keith appealed to the Court of Appeals, (CP 504-509) which affirmed on December 6, 2022. *Keith v. Ferry County*, No. 38761-5-III, (Wash. Ct. App. Dec. 06, 2022) (unpublished) (Appendix. P. 1) Mr. Keith filed a motion for reconsideration, which was denied on January 24, 2023. (Appendix. P. 13) Mr. Keith seeks review by the Supreme Court.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED Issue 1. Conveyance of a right-of-way shall be by deed.

In 1989, the Supreme Court held that conveyance of a right-of-way shall be by deed, pursuant to RCW 64.04.010.

<u>Kesinger v. Logan</u>, 113 Wn.2d 320, 779 P.2d 263, (1989) (hereinafter <u>Kesinger</u>)

We consider one principal issue as being dispositive of the case.

Issue

Under the facts as stated, is Mrs. Kesinger entitled to an order quieting title in her to the disputed strip of

PETITION FOR REVIEW PAGE 6

property near the irrigation canal where the record contains no deed conveying the irrigation canal right of way from the original landowners to Mr. Rankin, the District's predecessor in interest?

Decision

Conclusion. The conveyance of an interest in real property must be by deed. Since the record before us contains no evidence of a deed of the canal right of way from the original landowners to Mr. Rankin, the District's predecessor in interest, the District holds no interest in the disputed property. Mrs. Kesinger, therefore, was entitled to the order quieting title in her to the property in question.

Likewise, the Supreme Court in <u>Berg v. Ting</u>, 125 Wn.2d 544, 886 P.2d 564 (1995),

Under RCW 64.04.010, "every conveyance of real estate, or any interest therein, and every contract creating or evidencing any encumbrance upon real estate, shall be by deed . . . ". Every deed "shall be in writing, signed by the party bound thereby, and acknowledged . . . ". RCW 64.04.020. Although it is an incorporeal right, an easement is an interest in land. See Perrin v. Derbyshire Scenic Acres Water Corp., 63 Wn.2d 716, 388 P.2d 949 (1964). An express grant of easement is a conveyance within the meaning of the statute frauds, E.g., Ormiston v. Boast, 68 Wn.2d 548, 550, 413 P.2d 969 (1966)

The Supreme Court continued in <u>Berg v. Ting</u>, 125 Wn.2d 544, 886 P.2d 564 (1995)

However, in the case of an easement, a "deed [of easement] is not required to establish the actual location of an easement, but is required to convey an easement" which encumbrances a specific servient estate. (Some italics ours.) Smith v. King, 27 Wn. App. 869, 871, 620 P.2d 542, 24 A.L.R.4th 1049 (1980) (citing cases)

In the instant case, it's undisputed by Ferry County that no deed conveying a right-of-way easement across Mr. Keith's Lot 1 was created or recorded. Mr. Keith pleaded the holding in *Kesinger* as binding authority. The Court of Appeals *Keith v. Ferry County,* No. 38761-5-III, (Wash. Ct. App. Dec. 06, 2022) (unpublished) responded in direct conflict with Supreme Court binding authority, citing its own cases to hold, "A formal conveyance by deed is not required" (Appendix. P. 5-6)

....owners of property can create a public road "'by presenting for filing a final plat or short plat that shows the dedication [of the road] on its face.' "Bunnell v. Blair, 132 Wn. App. 149, 154, 130 P3d. 423 (2006) (quoting Richardson v. Cox, 108 Wn. App. 881, 891, 26

P.3d 970 (2001)). A formal conveyance by deed is not required.

THE RECORD OF CONVEYANCES AND GRANTOR-GRANTEE INDEXES

In 1990, the Supreme Court accepted for review <u>Ellingsen v.</u>

<u>Franklin Cty.</u>, 785 P.2d 826 (1990) an unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeals, <u>Ellingsen v. Franklin Cty.</u>, 55 Wn. App. 532, 778 P.2d 1072 (1989) regarding a disputed right-of-way to a county road. In reversing the Court of Appeals, <u>Ellingsen v. Franklin Cty.</u>, 117 Wn.2d 24, 810 P.2d 910 (1991) The Supreme Court held, citing <u>Kroetch v. Hinnenkamp</u>, 171 Wash. 518, 521-22, 18 P.2d 491 (1933)

It is important that a purchaser of real property . . . may rely upon a title which the record shows to be in his grantor, and that *he is not required*, in the absence of notice [not here present] . . . to make inquiry as to the status of the title outside of that shown by the recorded conveyances and the payment of taxes.

The recorded conveyances prove 100% ownership of the disputed right-of-way is vested in Mr. Keith. For the Court's

convenience, a copy of the recorded conveyances to Mr. Keith's property is produced below. (CP 077)

Ownership							
Owner's Name KEITH, MARC R				Ownership % 100 %			
				Sales History			
Sale Date 03/27/08	- area a deathleine	# Parcels	Excise #		Grantee	Price	
05/27/08	SWD-271350 QCD-262282	2	2008124	SIMENSON, HARRY L & RUTH E SIMENSON, HARRY L	KEITH, MARC R & VIVIAN I SIMENSON, HARRY L & RUTH E	\$145,500 \$0	
03/08/05	SWD-261598	2	2005112	SCHINNELL, DARYL & LINDA	SIMENSON, HARRY L & RUTH E	\$111,000	
07/06/92 07/01/86	QCD-221417 SWD 202200	2	28663 24463	WUTZKE, MARC & LINDA & RAVE, JOHN L &	SCHINNELL, DARYL & LINDA WUTZKE, MARC & LINDA &	\$0 \$11.000	

The original conveyance [of twenty acres] to the Wutzkes was July 1, 1986, by SWD-202200. The short plat was filed on June 1, 1992, but there is no entry on that date for a county road easement which must be recorded pursuant to the Supreme Court's holdings in *Kesinger*, *Ellingsen* and *Bing*. The next entry in Mr. Keith's chain of title is July 6, 1992, when his predecessor was granted all interest by QCD-221417. (CP-389)

Reversing the Court of Appeals in *Ellingsen*, the Supreme Court held,

If it were held that a document is constructive notice of its content because it is designated a public record or because the office in which it is filed is an office of record, the consequences <u>would be disastrous to the</u> <u>stability and certainty heretofore provided by recording</u> <u>with the county auditor and the grantor-grantee index</u> <u>required by RCW 65.04.</u> (emphasis added)

The holding of the Court of Appeals in the instant case conflicts with the Supreme Court holding presented above in *Ellingsen*,

Here, Mr. Keith raises new and old arguments why our previous decision was wrong. These arguments are: (1) encumbrances on property must be by deed, (2) no right-of-way deed was created in 1992, (3) grants require legislative body approval, (4) the Wutzkes conveyed Lot 1 twice, (5) Mr. Keith is a bona fide purchaser, (6) county roads must be recorded in the auditor's office, (7) no county road was established, and (8) there was an unconstitutional taking.

In general response to these arguments, we note that when Mr. Keith purchased Lot 1, the short plat was recorded, and it was or should have been obvious that "Empire Cr. Co. Rd." meant Empire Creek *County* Road.

Dec. 6, 2022, unpublished opinion, Appendix. P 5.

The above-cited Court of Appeals holding conflicts with the Supreme Court in *Ellingsen*, by apparently reasoning the short plat was recorded; the dedication was on the face of the short plat; so it should have been obvious there was [constructive notice of] Empire Creek *County* Road.

PETITION FOR REVIEW PAGE 11

With respect to the Court of Appeals, short plats do not encumber property, deeds do. RCW 64.04.010 (*Kesinger*) Conveyance of an easement is subject to the statute of frauds, and requires a deed to establish an easement. (*Berg v. Ting*)

The Supreme Court in *Ellingsen* held, regarding the unrecorded county road referenced previously, repeated here,

If it were held that a document is constructive notice of its content because it is designated a public record or because the office in which it is filed is an office of record, the consequences would be disastrous to the stability and certainty heretofore provided by recording with the county auditor and the grantor-grantee index required by RCW 65.04. (emphasis added)

Ferry County did not produce the auditor's grantor-grantee index at trial, so a courtesy copy of the relevant part of the grantee index is produced below.

0221132	I-WD	02:11:00 PM 06/01/1992	ZOLD	DONALD	E	GRANTEE *	
0221132	I-WD	01:10:00 PM 06/01/1992		ZOLD	BARBARA	A	GRANTEE *
0221127	1 - LIEN	01:10:00 PM 06/01/1992		ST OF WAIDSHS DCS			GRANTEE *
0221125	1-	08:41:00 AM 06/01/1992	1-84	PUBLIC,THE			GRANTEE *
0221124	SPSURVEY I - SP	08:08:00 AM 06/01/1992 08:37:00 AM		PUBLIC			GRANTEE *
		08:37:00 AW					

The two entries from book 1 page 84 on June 1, 1992, record a short plat (SP) 0221124 and a short plat survey (SPSURVEY) 0221125, but no grant, dedication, or county road.

The Court of Appeals opinion further conflicts with the Supreme Court's holdings in *Ellingsen* and *Bing*, citing its previous opinion, *Keith v. Ferry County*, No. 37526-9-III, slip op. at 2-7 (Wash. Ct. App. Mar. 30, 2021) (unpublished)

We affirmed the summary judgment dismissal. We noted that the short plat map depicted the road, identified as "*Empire Cr. Co. Rd. #552," and next to the road's culde-sac on Lot 1, the map indicated, "end county maintained road." Clerk's Papers (CP) at 245. We also concluded that Wutzke/Schinnell, the original owners of the property depicted in the short plat, clearly dedicated the road to the County, and the County clearly accepted it. We also additionally held that because the short plat was unambiguous, parol evidence could not be used to contradict it. (Appendix P. 2-3)

Respectfully, Mr. Keith's statutory warranty deed, record of conveyances, the grantor-grantee index, and payment of taxes are not parol evidence. They are dispositive pursuant to the Supreme Court's holding in *Ellingsen*, (citing *Kroetch*), that a purchaser

can rely on a title the record shows to be in his grantor, and he is not required,

... to make inquiry as to the status of the title outside of that shown by the recorded conveyances and the payment of taxes.

Title, recorded conveyances, and payment of taxes vest 100% ownership in Mr. Keith pursuant to *Ellingsen*.

THE FIRST CONVEYANCE OF AN UNACCEPTED DEDICATION REVOKES THE OFFER.

Ferry County claimed no interest in the disputed area as it was repeatedly conveyed and taxed as real property for twenty-four years from 1992 to 2016.

The Supreme Court in *Smith v. King County*, 80 Wash. 273, 141 P. 695 (1914)

A dedication of land to the use of the public, whether express or implied, may be revoked at any time before it has been accepted. Norfolk v. Nottingham, supra. It has also been held, and upon sound ground, <u>that a conveyance of an unaccepted street or highway revokes the dedication</u>. Railway Co. v. Town, 105 Iowa, 198, 74 N. W. 933; Clendenin v. Maryland, etc., 86 Md. 80, 37

PETITION FOR REVIEW PAGE 14

Atl. 709; 9 Am. & Eng. Enc. Law (2d Ed.) 78. It may also be revoked by applying the highway to any permanent use inconsistent with the purpose of the dedication. Trerice v. Barteau, 54 Wis. 99, 11 N. W. 244; Lea v. Lake, 14 Mich. 12, 90 Am. Dec. 220; Field v. Village, etc., 32 Mich. 279.

Upon the entire record, we are constrained to hold that the learned trial court was in error in concluding that any part of the property in controversy was a public highway.

The judgment is reversed, with directions to enter a decree enjoining the respondents from proceeding further. (italics and underlining added)

PERJURY BY FERRY COUNTY ASSESSOR COLEEN COX. Ferry County waived argument below on the issue of perjury by their own tax assessor to defeat Mr. Keith's proof of taxes.

The first time this case was before the Court of Appeals, *Keith v. Ferry County*, No. 37526-9-III, slip op. at 2-7 (Wash. Ct. App.

Mar. 30, 2021) (unpublished) Page 15, (CP-257) *before* the perjury of Coleen Cox was discovered, the court held,

We have carefully reviewed Mr. Keith's amended complaint and find no claim that remains viable. His alleged payment of taxes is raised only as evidence of the allegedly private character of the road and the County's alleged nonacceptance of the right-of-way.

After Mr. Keith exposed assessor Coleen Cox's perjury, the December 6, 2022 Court of Appeals opinion substantially conflicts with its previous opinion.

Mr. Keith next argues that Ferry County Chief Deputy Assessor Coleen Cox lied under oath about his payment of taxes on the roadway. She testified that the taxes assessed were for Lot 1, not Lot 1 and the road. He claims that the clear intent of the perjury was to defeat his claim that he paid taxes on the road for seven successive years and thereby obtained statutory title.

Mr. Keith's claim to statutory title rests on RCW 7.28.070, a form of adverse possession. But the law is clear in Washington that one cannot adversely possess public property. *Michel v. City of Seattle*, 19 Wn. App. 2d 783, 795,498 P.3d 522 (2021), *review denied*, 199 Wn.2d 1012, 508 P.3d 671 (2022). Mr. Keith's claim of statutory title through adverse possession had no legal merit, so Ms. Cox's purported lie was of no consequence. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by denying the motion to vacate based on a purported lie that had no effect on the outcome of the case.

(Dec. 6, 2022 opinion, Appendix. P. 6-7)

Trivializing undisputed perjury by a public official, the Court of Appeals conflicted with binding authority cited above in *Kesinger*, *Ellingsen*, and *Berg*, by holding the disputed area is public property despite the absence of a deed, chain of title, etc.

Furthermore, the record before the court proves that Mr. Keith never claimed to have received statutory title by adversely possessing county property. He received statutory title by warranty deed at purchase. (CP 018-019)

The undisputed perjury by assessor Coleen Cox, cited by the Superior Court in its summary judgment of dismissal, (CP 239) and which caused conflicting Court of Appeals holdings on the same issue in the same case, merits Supreme Court review.

PERJURY BY A GOVERNMENT OFFICIAL IS AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC IMPORTANCE-RAP 13.4(b)(4)

There can be few issues with greater substantial public importance requiring the attention of the Supreme Court than the honesty and ethics of public officials, especially when they're under oath.

If this court grants review and determines Mr. Keith's claims to the disputed right-of-way are based on his statutory warranty deed, (CP 018-019) record of conveyances, (CP 077) the grantorgrantee index, and payment of taxes, (CP 020-023) pursuant to

PETITION FOR REVIEW PAGE 17

Supreme Court holdings in *Kesinger*, *Ellingsen*, and *Bing*, and not adverse possession of county property, it will see that the perjury by Assessor Coleen Cox <u>caused</u> the summary judgment of dismissal, and its affirmation by the Court of Appeals. The Supreme Court will also see that Ms. Cox's perjury, suborned more than three years <u>after</u> Ferry County clandestinely took Mr. Keith's property, is part of a larger conspiracy to commit forgery, real estate, title and mortgage fraud, and public corruption.

This is clearly criminal, under state and federal law. A Veteran's Administration mortgage was secured (CP-266) to falsely enrich the Wutzkes for conveyance by deed of unrecorded interest (CP 330-333) in Mr. Keith's unconstitutionally taken property.

The Court of Appeals held, regarding Wutzkes subsequent conveyance of interest in Mr. Keith's property, after previously conveying (CP-389) *all interest*,

....It is true the original owners conveyed "all interest" they had in Lot 1, to Mr. Keith's predecessor. CP at 389. However, the original owners signed the deed three

PETITION FOR REVIEW PAGE 18

weeks *after* the short plat was recorded. By the time the original owners signed the quitclaim deed, they had no interest in the County road. The quitclaim deed is irrelevant. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by denying the motion to vacate based on the nondisclosure of a deed that had no effect on the outcome of the case. (underline added) Dec. 6, 2023, opinion, Appendix. P. 8

If, as the Court of Appeals held, the Wutzkes 'conveyed all interest they had', instead of <u>all interest</u> as shown on the recorded deed (CP 389) to Mr. Keith's predecessor, it begs the question where is the deed to the [unrecorded] interest they didn't have? (RCW 64.04.010, <u>Berg</u>) It's undisputed no right-of-way deed conveyed an easement to Ferry County. The conflict with <u>Berg</u> regarding the statute of frauds merits review by the Supreme Court.

Undoubtedly, it was a simple clerical error of the auditor in 1992 by filing a short plat containing a dedication without legislative body approval in conflict with RCW 58.17.190. Twenty-four years later, this clerical error was exploited by Ferry

County and the Wutzkes et al, to deprive Mr. Keith of property without due process of law.

CONSTITUTIONAL QUESTION OF LAW - RAP 13.4 (b)(3)
Issue 2 is undisputed. Ferry County, without notice to Mr.
Keith, conducted an ex parte land-use hearing (CP 436-437
North Empire Creek Road Discussion) at the insistence of Mr.
Keith's hostile neighbors, none of whom had an easement to use the disputed right-of-way as a shortcut across Mr. Keith's property to the terminus of the county road, one-half mile east.
It is also undisputed that immediately after obtaining resolution 2016-21, the Wutzkes conveyed Lot 2, granting unrecorded interest in the disputed right-of-way by conveying dedications shown on the survey. (CP-266, 317, 330-333)

Mr. Keith was denied opportunity to challenge the witnesses, which included a United States Postmaster, or the forgeries produced and submitted (CP 300-303, 313-315, 381, 384, 425-432) to the ex parte land-use hearing, or to present his own statements or evidence. The Court of Appeals considered the ex

parte, false, and slanderous gaslighting of Mr. Keith as verity when it held,

Beginning no later than June 11, 2013, Mr. Keith began taking actions that interfered with others' use of the portion of Empire Creek Road that is located within lot 1. In June 2013, he relocated several neighbors' mailboxes. He later erected fences and gates that interfered with the public right-of-way. He continued to make it known to County employees that he did not believe a public right-of-way existed on his property.

Mr. Keith contests all the above except the last sentence, which proves Ferry County, <u>and</u> the Court of Appeals, knew this was a contested land-use action. It was clearly unconstitutional to conduct the process behind closed doors without notice to the affected landowner, enact resolution 2016-21, and then immediately eject Mr. Keith from his deeded property. Review should be granted to resolve this important constitutional issue.

F. CONCLUSION

Mr. Keith understands review of unpublished opinions is rarely granted. However, this case relies on *Ellingsen v. Franklin Cty.*, 117 Wn.2d 24, 810 P.2d 910 (1991) as binding authority, which itself was review of an unpublished opinion *Ellingsen v. Franklin Cty.*, 785 P.2d 826 (Wash. 1990) of the Court of Appeals Div. III, which conflicts in the instant case with the exact same issue the Supreme Court reversed in *Ellingsen*. (holding county roads must be recorded in the auditor's grantor-grantee index and record of conveyances)

Mr. Keith respectfully asks this court to accept review and,

- (1) Hold ex parte county commissioner resolution 2016-21(CP-026) unconstitutional, ultra vires and void.
- (2) Reverse the denial of vacation, and order Mr. Keith's title quieted in him.
- (3) Enter orders requiring the Ferry County prosecutor to remove the legislatively unaccepted dedication from the record, pursuant to RCW 58.17.190.

- (4) Enter order to vacate the county road created across Mr. Keith's property by resolution 2016-21, pursuant to RCW 36.87.080 as a court of competent jurisdiction.
- (...dedications...shown on the survey thereof) across Mr. Keith's Lot one by the Wutzke/Wilton deed (CP 332-333) void as against Mr. Keith's title pursuant to RCW 65.08.070. Mr. Keith's predecessor recorded his deed to all interest in Lot one first, twenty-four years earlier.
- (6) Enter order requiring Mr. Keith to be compensated for the unconstitutional and unlawful taking in an amount to be determined by later trial in state or federal court.

This document contains 3,974 words, excluding parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.

February 17, 2023