FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/28/2023 11:11 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No.: 101726-0

Ferry County Superior Court Case No.: 17-2-00019-5 Court of Appeals Division III Case No. 387615

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### MARC R. KEITH,

Petitioner,

v.

FERRY COUNTY, WASHINGTON and ALL PERSONS CLAIMING ANY RIGHT, TITLE OF INTEREST IN THE REAL PROPERTY DESCRIBED HEREIN,

Respondents.

# FERRY COUNTY, WASHINGTON'S ANSWER TO MARC R. KEITH'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Peter G. Scott, WSBA No. 31712 Peter G. Scott, Law Offices, PLLC 682 South Ferguson Ave, #4 Bozeman, MT 59718-6491 (406) 585-3295 (406) 585-3321 Email: peter@scott-law.com

office@scott-law.com

#### A. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

Ferry County, Washington, (Respondent) respectfully requests the Petitioner's request to review the Court of Appeals decision identified in Part B be denied.

#### **B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION**

The decision proposed for review is <u>Keith v. Ferry Cnty.</u>, <u>Washington</u>, 38761-5-III, 2022 WL 17420567, at (Wash. Ct. App. Dec. 6, 2022) (Unpublished).

#### C. ISSUES IMPROPERLY PRESENTED

The issues presented by Petitioner are not properly subject to review by this Court. The sole issue that could have been presented for review is whether the Court of Appeals correctly ruled the Superior Court did not abuse its discretion in denying petitioner's motion to vacate judgment pursuant to CR 60(b)(4).

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Originally, Petitioner Marc R. Keith ("Keith") filed suit against Respondent, Ferry County, asserting facts and various

counts that challenged the legal status of a county-maintained road "Empire Creek Road" located on Petitioner's property. On April 7, 2020, the Superior Court entered its Order on Cross Motions for Summary Judgment, granting the County judgment as a matter of law and dismissing Keith's complaint.

Keith appealed from that decision, which was affirmed by the Court of Appeals. Keith v. Ferry Cnty., Washington, 16 Wn. App. 2d 1094 (2021) (unpublished) ("Keith I"). In ruling for the County, the Appellate Court concluded the recorded plat that created Petitioners parcel unambiguously included the dedicated public right of way. Keith I at \*4. Keith did not seek review before the Supreme Court and on May 11, 2021, the Appellate Court entered its Mandate terminating review. CP 241-42.

On November 22, 2021, Appellant filed a *pro se* motion in Superior Court seeking to vacate the order on cross motions for summary judgment pursuant to Civil Rule ("CR") 60(b)(4). <u>CP</u> 259. Keith's motion included a 20-page affidavit and 121

pages of exhibits. <u>CP 309-450</u>. The Superior Court ordered the County to show cause, if any, why the court should not vacate its order of April 7, 2020. The County filed its memorandum in response to order to show cause and opposing motion to vacate on December 22, 2021. <u>CP 451</u>.

On January 31, 2022, the Superior Court issued its Order Denying Keith's Motion to Vacate Judgment concluding, Keith failed to show by clear and convincing evidence that fraud, misrepresentation, or other misconduct by the County. In addition, Keith failed to show by clear and convincing evidence that the County prevented Keith from fully and fairly presenting his case. CP 502.

Keith appealed from the Superior Court's denial of his motion to vacate. The Appellate Court affirmed the Superior Courts' decision. Keith v. Ferry Cnty., Washington, 38761-5-III, 2022 WL 17420567 (Wash. Ct. App. Dec. 6, 2022) ("Keith II"). It is to that decision that the present petition is addressed.

#### E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Keith's Petition does not meet the standard for review and should be denied. The applicable rule provides for review only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)

The order appealed from was the Superior Court's denial of Petitioner's motion to vacate that court's prior ruling under CR 60(b)(2). Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision affirming the Superior Court. However, the petition assigns no error to the appellate court's decision affirming denial of Petitioner's CR 60(b)(2) motion. Petitioner makes no

effort to show how the appellate court's decision satisfies any of the requirements for review under RAP 13.4(b). Instead, Petitioner seeks review of issues that were or could have been conclusively determined in <a href="Keith I">Keith I</a>—issues the appellate court correctly declined to consider.

The vacation of a judgment is an extraordinary remedy.

<u>Dalton v. State</u>, 130 Wn.App. 653, 665, 124 P.3d 305 (2005).

Under CR 60(b)(4), the moving party must show by clear and convincing evidence that "[f]raud, misrepresentation, or other misconduct" *caused* the entry of the judgment. <u>Peoples State</u>

<u>Bank v. Hickey</u>, 55 Wn. App. 367, 372, 777 P.2d 1056 (1989).

A party's misconduct will support relief under CR 60(b)(4) only if that misconduct prevented the moving party from fully and fairly presenting his or her case. <u>Dalton</u>, 130 Wn.App. at 668.

Misconduct that is harmless will not support a motion to vacate.

4 Karl B. Tegland, Washington Practice: Rules Practice § 8, at 613 (6th ed.2013).

The Superior Court denied Mr. Keith's CR 60(b) motion because he failed to satisfy the burden of showing that the County engaged in misconduct or that any alleged misconduct by the County caused judgment to be entered. An appeal from the denial of a CR 60(b) motion is not a substitute for an appeal and is limited to the propriety of denying the motion to vacate, not any alleged impropriety of the underlying order. In re Dependency of J.M.R., 160 Wn. App. 929, 938 n.4, 249 P.3d 193 (2011) (citing Bjurstrom v. Campbell, 27 Wn. App. 449, 450-51, 618 P.2d 533 (1980)). The issues presented for review by Petitioner focus on merits of the underlying case. Those issues either were, or could have been, conclusively determined in Keith I. This Court should decline to review the underlying case which is limited to denial of Petitioner's CR 60(b) motion.

Judicial denial of a motion to vacate under CR 60(b) is reviewed for a manifest abuse of discretion.

A motion to vacate a judgment is to be considered and decided by the trial court in the exercise of its discretion, and its decision should not be overturned on appeal unless it appears that this discretion has been abused.

Matter of Guardianship of Adamec, 100 Wash.2d 166, 667 P.2d 1085 (1983) (citing Martin v. Pickering, 85 Wash.2d 241, 245, 533 P.2d 380 (1975). The Appellate Court ruled the Superior Court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion to vacate. For this court to accept review of that decision, Petitioner must show that one or more of the factors governing review are met. The petition fails to make that showing and review should be denied.

111

#### F. CONCLUSION

Petitioner fails to show (or even assert) that the appellate court's decision to affirm denial of his motion to vacate conflicts with any controlling authority or presents a significant legal question or matter of public interest. The petition should be denied.